IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL KOSOR JR., A NEVADA RESIDENT,

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court NoF6662 2019 04:07 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
District Court Case Werk-b7-3662676 Court

Appellant,

vs.

OLYMPIA COMPANIES, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; AND GARRY V. GOETT, A NEVADA RESIDENT,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from Order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

The Honorable Michelle Leavitt

BARRON & PRUITT, LLP

WILLIAM M. PRUMT Nevada Bar No. 6873

JOSEPH R. MESERVY

Nevada Bar No. 14088

3890 West Ann Road

North Las Vegas, Nevada 89031

Attorneys for Appellant Michael Kosor Jr.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis for Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction

NRS 41.670(4) confers jurisdiction on this Court, as this is an interlocutory appeal made from a District Court Order denying Appellant's Special Motion to Dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660. NRS 41.670(4) states that in the event of such denial, "an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court." Additionally, NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11) retain with the Supreme Court matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the Nevada Constitution or common law, or raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance.

B. Filing Dates:

- November 29, 2017: Plaintiffs Olympia Companies, LLC, and Garry
 V. Goett's Complaint
- January 5, 2018: Defendant Michael Kosor's Answer
- January 29, 2018: Defendant Michael Kosor's Motion to dismiss
 Pursuant to NRS 41.660
- February 16, 2018: Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660
- February 26, 2018: Defendant's Reply to Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660
- March 20, 2018: Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss
 Pursuant to NRS 41.660

April 19, 2018: Defendant's Notice of Appeal

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an interlocutory appeal from an order denying Defendant Kosor's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660 (anti-SLAPP Motion). It is not among those appeals presumptively referred to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b), and the appeal invokes the Supreme Court's review of an appealable order under NRAP 3A(a) and NRS 41.670(4).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660.
- **B.** Whether Appellant has satisfied his burden of proof for protection under Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws.
- C. Whether Respondents have failed to satisfy their burden of proof to demonstrate with prima facie evidence a probability they will prevail on their claims.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

Appellant Michael Kosor, Jr. is a retired Air Force officer and homeowner in the Southern Highlands Community. As a homeowner, Appellant Kosor voiced concerns relating to the ongoing control exercised by the developer over the Southern Highland's Community, and sought election to the board of the Southern Highlands Community Association to better address such concerns. However, in a blatant display of intimidation aimed at silencing Appellant Kosor, the developer of the Southern Highlands Community, Olympia Companies, LLC, and its president, Garry Goett, (hereafter referred to as "Respondents"), asserted claims for defamation and defamation per se against Appellant Kosor. ¹

Appellant contends that Respondents have improperly filed the underlying lawsuit in violation of Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws for the purpose of chilling, silencing and intimidating Appellant Kosor from publically voicing concerns relating to the control exercised by the developer in the community and related issues. Appellant Kosor further contends that the alleged defamatory statements are protected by Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes and that he is entitled to the dismissal of Respondents' lawsuit under Nevada law.

///

¹ JA, Vol. I, 1-5.

Southern Highlands is a planned community in Las Vegas. From 2014 to 2017, Appellant was active in addressing various issues of public interest that affected the Southern Highlands Community, most particularly issues involving (1) the developer/Respondents' control of the Southern Highlands Community Association ("SHCA"), (2) the developer/Respondent's transfer to the SHCA of titles for community parks along with costly management obligations, and (3) the developer/Respondents' decade-long delay in completing a large community sports park, despite having received the benefit of an agreement with Clark County for special construction tax credits.²

Concerned that he and approximately 8,000 other community homeowners were being denied due control and access to the SHCA board and were bearing the costs for parks that should not have been transferred by the developer to the SHCA, Appellant Kosor and other homeowners endeavored to marshal greater public support regarding the foregoing issues. As part of such efforts, Appellant Kosor ran for election to the SHCA board.³ However, after Appellant commenced his campaign and in a transparent attempt to silence and intimidate Appellant Kosor, Respondents improperly initiated a lawsuit against Appellant on November 29, 2017, alleging defamation and defamation per se arising out of some of

² See, e.g., JA, Vol. I, 97-101. ³ JA, Vol. I, 68.

Appellant's comments concerning issues of public concern within the community.

Respondents' action for defamation fails for several reasons, first and foremost because it is subject to dismissal under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes. The lawsuit commenced by Respondents is exactly the type of litigation the anti-SLAPP statutes were intended to eliminate, as it cannot be overstated the disparity of power that exists, with Respondents holding the greater portion of control, influence and resources in juxtaposition to the individual homeowner Appellant, whom they have attempted to improperly silence and intimidate.

In addition to being subject to dismissal pursuant to NRS 41.660, the statements alleged to be defamatory by Respondents are not defamatory on their face and were offered by Appellant as opinions. In fact, most of the statements were made during an election and, under Nevada law, are considered opinions. As opinions, such comments or statements do not rise to the level of defamation.⁴

Furthermore, several of the challenged statements were not even directed at Respondents and, consequently, are not actionable by Respondents. Moreover, many of the alleged defamatory statements, as claimed by Respondents, plainly display the disingenuous nature of their action, as Respondents only reference in

⁴ <u>Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 118 Nev. 706, 714, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002) ("statements of opinion as opposed to statements of fact are not actionable"); Nevada Indep. Broad. Corp. v. Allen, 99 Nev. 404, 410, 664 P.2d 337, 341 (1983) ("in cases involving political comment, there is a strong inclination to determine the remarks to be opinion rather than fact.")

their Complaint out-of-context sentence fragments as the bases for Appellant Kosor's alleged defamation. In referencing only sentence fragments to allege defamation, Respondents intentionally omitted the remainder of the statements that would have clearly demonstrated that Appellant's statements were opinions offered in support of matters of public interest.

In response to the chilling nature of Respondents' action, Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660 on January 29, 2018 to terminate Respondent's strategic lawsuit against public participation ("SLAPP").⁵ Thereafter, Respondents filed an Opposition on February 16, 2018.⁶ After filing a Reply on February 26, 2018, Appellant's Motion came on for hearing on March 5. 2018.7 Despite Respondents' violation of the Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes, on March 20, 2018, the district court entered an Order denying Appellant Kosor's Motion.8

In denying Appellant's Motion, the district court simply ruled that Defendant/Appellant had failed to meet his burden to invoke NRS 41.660. Although Appellant Kosor had challenged each of the alleged defamatory statements as being subject to dismissal under Nevada's anti-SLAAP statutory framework and offered supporting case authorities, the district court made no findings of fact in support of

⁵ JA, Vol. I, 21-50. ⁶ JA, Vol. I, 139-167. ⁷ JA, Vol. I, 206-227; Vol. II, 228-273. ⁸ JA, Vol. II, 274-275.

its ruling. Accordingly, the Order of the district court is devoid of any analysis demonstrating how the court arrived at its decision.

Thereafter, on April 6, 2018, Appellant substituted his attorney of record.⁹ Appellant Kosor then timely filed a Notice of Appeal on April 19, 2018 contending that the district court erred in its application of Nevada law to the facts of this case by denying Appellant Kosor's Motion to Dismiss for violation of Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws.¹⁰

After filing the Notice of Appeal, Appellant Kosor filed on April 23, 2018 a Motion for Reconsideration of the district court's Order denying his Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660.¹¹ An Opposition was filed by Plaintiffs on May 10, 2018, after which Appellant filed a Reply in Support of the Motion for Reconsideration.¹² Once again, the District Court summarily denied Appellant's Motion in an Order dated June 22, 2018, offering no findings of fact or analysis in support of its ruling.¹³

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Appellant adopts the foregoing Statement of the Case as a supplement to his Statement of Relevant Facts. Southern Highlands is a master-planned community

⁹JA, Vol. II, 280-282.

¹¹ JA, Vol. II, 283-289 ¹¹ JA Vol. II, 294-344

¹² JA, Vol. II, 345-367; 454-475.

in Clark County, Nevada. On or about January 6, 2000, Southern Highlands Development Corporation ("Declarant") caused to be recorded a Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and Reservation of Easements (CC&Rs) for Southern Highlands. 14

Pursuant to section 2.32 of the CC&Rs, the maximum number of units approved for development in Southern Highlands was 9,000¹⁵. Under NRS 116.2122, a declarant may amend its declaration if the right to do so is preserved therein; however, "the declarant may not in any event increase the number of units in the planned community beyond the number stated in the original declaration" (emphasis added).

Despite such restriction on increasing the number of units in the planned community, Declarant attempted to amend section 2.32 of the CC&Rs on September 27, 2005, by increasing the maximum number of units approved for development in Southern Highlands from 9,000 to 10,400.16 However, in Nevada. the amendment of a declaration is governed by NRS 116.2117.

The foregoing statute provides, in pertinent part, that "(1)... the declaration, including any plats, may be amended only by vote or agreement of the units' owners of units to which at least a majority of the votes in the association are

 ¹⁴ JA, Vol. I, 60, n.1.
 ¹⁵ JA, Vol. I, 60, para. 2.
 ¹⁶ JA, Vol. I, 64-65.

allocated, unless the declaration specifies a different percentage for all amendments If the declaration requires the approval of another person as a condition of its effectiveness, the amendment is not valid without that approval.

(2) No action to challenge the validity of an amendment adopted by the association pursuant to this section may be brought more than 1 year after the amendment is recorded. (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Declarant's attempted amendment of the CC&Rs failed to satisfy the conditions of NRS 116.2117, as the proposed amendment was not voted upon or adopted by the Southern Highlands unit owners or the Southern Highlands Community Association. Because the proposed amendment was never voted upon or adopted, it is in violation NRS 116.2122 as set forth above.

Prior to October 1, 2015 and under the terms of the CC&Rs (section 2.19) and Nevada law (NRS 116.31032), Declarant control of the Southern Highlands Community Association was to have concluded or terminated within 60 days after the Declarant having conveyed 75 percent of the maximum number of units or, in other words, 75 percent of units created to unit's owners other than Declarant.

By 2014, Declarant control of the Southern Highlands Community

Association should have concluded or terminated, as 8,240 units were created to
unit's owners other than the Declarant. NRS 116.093 defines a unit as "a

¹⁷ JA, Vol. I, 60-63.

physical portion of the common-interest community designed for separate ownership or occupancy" Based on the forgoing number of units, 91.55 percent of the maximum number of units approved for development in Southern Highlands (9,000) were created to unit's owners other than Declarant by 2014.

Because the percentage of units created to unit's owners other than the Declarant (91.55 percent) exceeded the percentage required for transferring Declarant control of the Southern Highlands Community Association to the homeowners of said community (75 percent), Declarant was required to have terminated or relinquished control over the SHCA, but has failed to do so.

Appellant Kosor became a homeowner at Southern Highlands in Las Vegas, Nevada in 2012. From 2014 to 2017, Appellant Kosor was active on various issues of public interest that affected the Southern Highlands Community, most particularly issues involving the developer's ongoing control of the SHCA, the SCHA's assumption of the obligation to manage community parks and the developer's substantial delay of a long promised sports park for the community.¹⁸

In addressing such interests, Appellant Kosor made statements of opinion that expressed the following concerns: (1) that the developer's attempt in 2005 to amend the declarant control provisions of the CC&Rs for Southern Highlands was invalid under statutory law (NRS 116.2122); that by 2014, the sale of a sufficient

¹⁸ See, e.g., JA, Vol. I, 97-101; 115-116.

number of Southern Highlands units under the un-amended CC&Rs required transfer of board control from the Respondent Olympia Companies, LLC to the homeowners—which transfer never occurred; (3) that titles for "public parks," along with the costly performance obligations to maintain such parks and the rights to control them (and potentially their accessibility by the general public), were transferred by Respondent Olympia Companies, LLC (as developer) to the SHCA absent a majority approval by the SHCA members—potentially voiding said transfer under statutory law (NRS 116.3112); and (4) Respondent Olympia Companies, LLC delayed completion of a highly anticipated large public sports park in Southern Highlands for more than a decade, after receiving the benefit of a December 2005 agreement it entered into with Clark County to construct said sports park in exchange for special construction tax credits, and that such delay occurred with virtually no consequence to Respondents.¹⁹

Concerned that he and other homeowners (as well as other Clark County citizens) were being denied due control and access to the SHCA board, as a direct result of the invalid 2005 amendment; as well as control of the transfer of titles and performance obligations associated with the parks; and being subjected to the consequential construction delay, Appellant Kosor and other homeowners

¹⁹ JA, Vol. I, 331-341; 343-344.

endeavored to marshal greater public support regarding these issues.²⁰ To that end, Appellant Kosor addressed the SCHA board in hearings wherein Appellant's concerns were listed as agenda items, and Appellant ran for election to the SHCA board in 2017.²¹ In support of his election, Appellant Kosor sought to inform the Southern Highlands Community of his opinions relating to the developer's control of the SHCA board through election pamphlets and an election website.²²

However, following the announcement of his campaign for membership on the SCHA board, Respondents improperly sought to chill, silence and intimidate Appellant Kosor by initiating on November 29, 2017 a lawsuit against him alleging defamation and defamation per se arising out of some of Appellant Kosor's communications made on behalf of the community, most of which occurred during Appellant's campaign.²³ Such claims were without merit and were instead initiated by Respondents as a strategic lawsuit against public participation directed at silencing Appellant Kosor.

In alleging defamation in their Complaint, Respondents conveniently omitted portions of the statements that would reflect or otherwise demonstrate the non-defamatory and opinion nature of the challenged statements. More specifically, Respondents contend in paragraph 6 of their Complaint that on

²⁰ See JA, Vol. II, 331-341. ²¹ JA, Vol. I, 79, 1:19:09-1:19:15; 1:20:54-1:21:01; Vol. I, 68. ²² JA, Vol. II, 343-344; 331-341 ²³ JA, Vol. I, 1-5.

December 12, 2015, Appellant Kosor "made comments that Olympia and Mr. Goett spoke with Clark County Commissioners in a 'dark room' and coerced them to act or vote in a certain manner; and that Olympia is 'lining its pockets' to the detriment of the Southern Highlands homeowners."24

However, what is omitted from the foregoing statement by Respondents is context and completeness. The statements were made by Appellant Kosor on December 12, 2015 in a hearing of the Christopher Community Association board meeting during which Appellant addressed various agenda items. At the meeting, Appellant Kosor stated "[H]e [Respondent Goett] is basically lining his own pockets, in my opinion, at the expense of the owners in Southern Highlands:" "[H]e was upset and angry and probably got the Commissioner aside in a dark room or someplace and read them the riot act[.]" (emphasis added).²⁵

Clearly, Respondents omitted the language that demonstrates the true nature of the statements, as opinions of Appellant Kosor. As opinions, the statements of Mr. Kosor are not actionable. Furthermore, suggesting or opining that someone is lining his pockets at the expense of others or got upset and may have taken another aside and read them the riot act is hardly defamatory on its face.

///

²⁴ JA, Vol. I, 2. ²⁵ JA, Vol. I, 124 at 1:19:09-1:19:15; 1:20:54-1:21:01.

Respondents then contended in paragraph 9 of their Complaint that Appellant Kosor posted a statement on social media "accusing Olympia of obtaining a 'lucrative agreement' with Clark County by cost-shifting expenses for the maintenance of public parks to the Southern Highlands owners."26 The statement at issue was posted on September 11, 2017 to Appellant Kosor's social media account with Nextdoor.com and read as follows: "[T]o obtain a lucrative agreement with the County[,] the Developer committed to constructing [a] Sports Park using private money . . . [but] the County would in the fall of 2015 inexplicably reliev[e] the developer of its original commitment only to then approve spending \$7M in public tax dollars for a similar complex in Mountain's Edge."27

As with the prior statements, there is nothing defamatory about the Appellant's social media statement. Furthermore, the statement does not even identify the developer by name and calls into question the actions of the County as opposed to the Respondents.

Thereafter, in paragraph 10 of their Complaint, Respondents contend that Appellant Kosor used his website to accuse "Olympia and its employees of, among other things, acting like a foreign government that deprives people of essential

²⁶ JA, Vol. I, 3. ²⁷ JA, Vol. II, 327.

rights. In other parts of his website, Mr. Kosor continues to reference sweetheart deals, statutory violations, breaches of fiduciary duty and improper shifting of 'millions of dollars'...."²⁸ Once again, Respondents have referenced portions of Appellant Kosor's statements that are incomplete and out of context in a deliberate and transparent attempt to manufacture the appearance of defamation to silence and intimidate Appellant.

The alleged defamatory statements were posted by Appellant to his campaign website on November 16, 2017. The statements read as follows:

"[1] I lived in foreign countries where citizens did not have [the right to vote] . . . I do not like the idea the community I now look to spend my retirement has denied me this central and important right."²⁹..."[2] [O]ur SHCA Board has repeatedly failed to oppose and in many cases failed to even inform owners of damaging efforts by the County and State—for example: a massive sweetheart deal for our Developer that has significantly changed and reduced our long overdue 'Sports Park'..."³⁰..."[3] Clark County's 'cost shifting' of park maintenance expenses to our HOA"³¹... "[4] County and Developer coordinated [an] agreement that would permanently and wrongly obligate the HOA to maintain the 'public parks' in our

²⁸ JA, Vol. I, 3.

²⁹ JA, Vol. II, 448.

³¹ JA, Vol. II, 444.

community."32... "[5] If elected I will keep owners informed and insist our Association engages to advance and defend owner interests on both the County and State level." (emphasis added).³³

The foregoing statements were offered by Appellant as opinions within the context of an election campaign for the SCHA board. The opinions addressed matters of public interest and concern and, for the most part, are not even directed at Respondents. The first statement refers to Appellant's disappointment with the SCHA in failing to conduct a vote of community owners on issues affecting declarant control of the SHCA and the ownership and maintenance of community parks. This statement is not directed at Respondents and is not defamatory on its face.

The second statement is again directed at the SCHA board, the County and State, which are not parties to this matter. Additionally, the expressed opinion of a sweetheart deal for the "Developer" is not defamatory on its face and is not actionable. The third statement offered by Appellant in his election campaign website is directed at the County and the HOA, who are not parties to the litigation and is not defamatory on its face. Accordingly, the statement is not actionable.

///

³² JA, Vol. II, 444. ³³ JA, Vol. II, 444.

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