IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL KOSOR JR., a Nevada resident,

Appellant,

VS.

Case No.: 75669

Electronically Filed Apr 25 2019 04:04 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

OLYMPIA COMPANIES, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; GARRY V. GOETT, a Nevada resident,

Respondents.

Appeal

District Court Case No.: A-17-756257-C The Honorable Michelle Leavitt, District Judge

RESPONDENTS OLYMPIA COMPANIES, LLC'S AND GARRY V. GOETT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

J. Randall Jones, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 1927
Nathanael R. Rulis, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11259
Kemp, Jones & Coulthard, LLP
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Tel. (702) 385-6000

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondents filed this action only after exercising extreme patience with Mr. Kosor and after several attempts to secure his agreement to cease and desist from his reckless behavior defaming Respondents at nearly every opportunity. Unfortunately, despite Respondents' multiple efforts, Kosor's conduct persisted, and Kosor continued to spout statements, that had been demonstrated to him to be false, about Respondents without any regard for the truth or of Respondents' rights. Kosor's tunnel vision may have originated with his earnest attempts to effect political change, but that does not excuse his pattern of reckless behavior towards Respondents and complete refusal to acknowledge the wrongfulness of his actions. Each and every one of Kosor's statements identified in Respondents' Complaint either constitute defamation per se and are of the type which would tend to lower the reputation of Respondents in the community or excite derogatory opinions about Respondents. Kosor's statements are not only defamatory, they are not subject to the protections of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute, nor does his inclusion of alleged qualifying language transform these statements into mere opinions. When he published each of these statements, Kosor either knew that the statements were false or he published them with a reckless disregard to whether they were true. Respondents demonstrated at the district court level the falsity of

Kosor's statements and also demonstrated their probability of prevailing on each of their claims against Kosor.

Accordingly, the district court found that Kosor failed to meet his preponderance-of-the-evidence standard of demonstrating that his conduct was "truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood" and, thus, failed to meet the requirements to invoke NRS 41.660. As such, his anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss was denied. That being the case, the district properly determined there was no reach the second prong of the NRS 41.660 inquiry.

The district court appropriately adhered to the required analysis, finding that the evidence before the court required it to deny Kosor's special motion to dismiss.

Judge Leavitt's order denying Kosor's motion should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Under Nevada law, if the evidence demonstrated that Kosor made statements that he knew were false, or made those statements with reckless disregard to the truth, can Kosor invoke the protection of NRS 41.660?
- 2. Under Nevada law, was the district court's denial of Kosor's special motion to dismiss appropriate in light of the demonstrated fact that Kosor knew the falsity of his statements but made them anyway?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After enduring several years of Kosor's attacks, Respondents filed a Complaint for defamation and defamation per se against Kosor on November 29, 2017. *See* Joint Appendix ("JA") 1-5. Respondents' Complaint outlined several of Kosor's critical statements regarding either Respondent Olympia Companies, LLC ("Olympia"), Respondent Garry V. Goett ("Goett"), or both, which Respondents contend constitute defamation or defamation per se. *Id.* Specifically, Respondents complained of the following statements:

- At the December 17, 2015¹, Christopher Communities Association
 ("CCA") board meeting, Kosor "made comments that Olympia and Mr.
 Goett spoke with Clark County Commissioners in a "dark room" and
 coerced them to act or vote in a certain manner." JA 2 at ¶ 6; JA 203 at ¶
 7.
- At the December 17, 2015, Christopher Communities Association ("CCA") board meeting, Kosor "made comments that . . . Olympia is "lining its pockets" to the detriment of the Southern Highlands homeowners." JA 2 at ¶ 6; JA 203 at ¶ 7.

3

¹ This meeting was held well before Mr. Kosor ever entered any election for the Southern Highlands Community Association ("SHCA") board.

- "On or about September 11, 2017, Kosor posted a statement on the Nextdoor.com website accusing Olympia of obtaining a "lucrative agreement" with Clark County by cost-shifting expenses for the maintenance of public parks to the Southern Highlands owners." JA 3 at ¶ 9; JA 204 at ¶ 13.
- "On or about November 16, 2017, Kosor launched a website under his own name, accusing Olympia and its employees of, among other things, acting like a foreign government that deprives people of essential rights."
 JA 3 at ¶ 10; JA 204 at ¶ 14.
- In other parts of his website, Kosor continued to reference "massive sweetheart deals", statutory violations, breaches of fiduciary duties, and improper cost shifting of "millions of dollars." JA 3 at ¶ 10; JA 204 at ¶ 14.
- "On or about November 17, 2017, homeowners throughout the Southern Highlands community received a written pamphlet from Kosor" which included a "statement that Olympia/Developer breached its fiduciary duties to the Southern Highlands community." JA 3 at ¶ 11; JA 205 at ¶ 16.
- Kosor's pamphlet also claims that the "Developer's actions have "already cost the homeowners millions." *Id*.

• Both Kosor's pamphlet and his website "grossly overstate[] the Southern Highlands Community Association's 2016 legal expenses." JA 3 at ¶ 11; JA 203-204 at ¶¶8-9.

On January 29, 2018, Kosor filed a special motion to dismiss, seeking to dismiss Respondents' Complaint pursuant to Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. See JA 21-93, Defendant Michael Kosor's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, filed on January 29, 2018 ("Motion to Dismiss"). Respondents filed their opposition on February 16, 2018, see JA 139-200, Respondents' Opposition to Defendant Michael Kosor's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660 filed on February 16, 2018 ("Opposition"), and Kosor filed his reply on February 26, 2018. See JA 206-227, Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660 field on February 26, 2018 ("Reply"). At the hearing on Kosor's Motion to Dismiss, the district court focused its questions on whether Kosor could turn his concerns into issues of public interest by merely posting those online or taking those issues in front of the Real Estate Board. See JA 267:2-9 ("but it appears to be an issue specific to this homeowner"), JA 269:10–12. After listening to arguments from counsel, the district court determined that Kosor failed to meet his burden to invoke the protection of NRS 41.660 and, therefore, denied Kosor's motion. The district court then entered an order denying Kosor's Motion to Dismiss, finding that "Defendant has failed to

meet its burden to invoke NRS 41.660." *See* JA 276-279, Notice of Entry of Order Denying Kosor's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660 filed on March 21, 2018 ("Order").

Thereafter, Kosor retained new counsel on April 6, 2018. On April 19, 2018, Kosor, through his new counsel of record, timely filed a Notice of Appeal, appealing the district court's Order to the Nevada Supreme Court.² *See* JA 283-289, Notice of Appeal filed on April 19, 2018.

STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

Respondents' Complaint outlines several specific examples of Kosor's defamatory statements about Respondents. *See* JA 1-5. At the time of the hearing on Kosor's motion to dismiss, however, the allegations in Respondents' Complaint were additionally supported by the exhibits attached to Kosor's motion, the Respondents' opposition, and the Declaration of Angela Rock, Esq. JA 51-93; JA 168-200; JA 201-205.

A. Kosor claims Respondents spoke with County Commissioners in a "dark room"

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "Kosor made comments that Olympia and Mr. Goett spoke with Clark County Commissioners in a "dark room" and

² Per NRAP 4(a)(1), Kosor had thirty (30) days from the date of entry of the Court's Order to file an appeal with the Nevada Supreme Court, or until April 20, 2018.

coerced them to act or vote in a certain manner." JA 2 at ¶ 6. At the December 17, 2015, Christopher Communities Association ("CCA") board meeting, Kosor stated that "They [the County Commissioners] were apologizing to the developer, Goett . . . was upset and angry, and he probably got the Commissioners aside in a dark room someplace, read them the riot act." JA 203 at ¶ 7; JA 79 at 1:20:45–1:21:01. He was later overheard repeating similar statements – that Olympia pays for "back room" deals with politicians – to other Southern Highlands homeowners at an SHCA board meeting in late 2016. JA 203.

B. Kosor claims Respondents are "lining its pockets" to the detriment of homeowners

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "Kosor made comments that . . . Olympia is "lining its pockets" to the detriment of the Southern Highlands homeowners." JA 2 at ¶ 6. At the December 17, 2015, CCA board meeting, Kosor stated that "[the Declarant is] basically lining his own pockets in my opinion at the expense of the owners in Southern Highlands." JA 203 at ¶ 7; JA 79 at 1:19:12–14.

C. Kosor claims Respondents obtained a "lucrative agreement" with the County

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "On or around September 11, 2017, Mr. Kosor posted a statement on the Nextdoor.com website accusing Olympia of obtaining a "lucrative agreement" with Clark County by cost-shifting expenses for the maintenance of public parks to the Southern Highlands owners." JA 3 at ¶ 9. In

fact, Kosor's statement states that "To obtain a lucrative agreement with the County the developer committed to constructing the above Sports Park using private money." *See* JA 169. But beyond that, Kosor admits that this is something that only "a *small handful* of concerned residents" have been dealing with — decidedly not a matter of public interest. *Id*.

D. Kosor claims Respondents act like a "foreign government"

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "On or about November 16, 2017, Mr. Kosor launched a website under his own name, accusing Olympia and its employees of, among other things, acting like a foreign government that deprives people of essential rights." JA 3 at ¶ 10. Though Kosor previously denied making this statement (*see* JA 40:5–6), his website undeniably proclaims that he "spent 24 years as an Air Force officer defending the rights of all Americans to choose those that represent us. I lived in **foreign countries where citizens did not have this right** and saw first-hand the negative implications. I do not like the idea **the community** I now look to spend my retirement **has denied me this central and important right**." JA 88.

E. Additional Statements on Kosor's Website

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "In other parts of his website, Mr. Kosor continues to reference sweetheart deals, statutory violations, breaches of fiduciary duties, and improper cost shifting of "millions of dollars." JA 3 at ¶ 10.

Kosor's website specifically states that the "SHCA Board has repeatedly failed to inform owners of", among other things, "a massive sweetheart deal for our Developer." JA 86 (emphasis added). Once again, Kosor denied having made this statement, despite the fact that the exhibits to his own motion show otherwise. *See* JA 40:6–7.

Kosor's website also boldly accuses Respondents of numerous statutory violations, including accusations that the "County and Developer coordinated [an] agreement that would permanently and wrongfully obligate the HOA to maintain the "public" parks in our community." JA 85 (emphasis in original). Kosor's website also claimed that Olympia entered into an agreement with the SHCA Board in contravention of Nevada law: "the Agreement was done without satisfying necessary owner acceptance provisions in the statutes. A technical 'loophole' allows it to do so. However, per NRS 116.3112 par 4. '... the contract is not enforceable against the association until approved pursuant to subsections 1, 2 and 3' (a majority vote of the owners)." JA 89.

Further, Kosor repeatedly states that the SHCA Board and Olympia breached their fiduciary duties to Southern Highlands homeowners with statements such as "the general failure of our Association Board to advance the interests of Southern Highlands homeowners" (JA 84) and "the SHCA Board's recurring failure to engage on behalf of homeowners" *Id.* (emphasis added). While more

specifically targeting Olympia as a developer, Kosor avers that "[w]ith the management company, Olympia Management, also controlled by the Developer, the potential for conflicts of interest, loss of board autonomy, and failed fiduciary oversight are clear." JA 87; JA 90. (emphasis added). Finally, Kosor's website states that "Clark County's 'cost-shifting' of park maintenance expenses to our HOA" (JA 85) and that he "believe[s] this has cost our community millions of dollars." JA 87. (underline in original) (bold added).

Despite claiming in his Motion that his statements on these breaches of fiduciary duties are only presented as "potential," he immediately follows this statement by suggesting that undisclosed facts demonstrate these breaches have **already transpired** and cost the community millions of dollars. JA 87. That does not qualify as a protected opinion.

F. Kosor claims Olympia breached its fiduciary duties

Respondents' Complaint alleges that "On or about November 17, 2017, homeowners throughout the Southern Highlands community received a written pamphlet from Kosor. Within Kosor's written pamphlet was the statement that Olympia/Developer breached its fiduciary duties to the Southern Highlands community." JA 3 at ¶ 11. Kosor's pamphlet and accompanying letter clearly state that "[w]ith Olympia Management **owned by the Developer**, the potential for conflicts of interest, loss of board autonomy, and **failed fiduciary oversight are**

clear." JA 70-71. The letter also accuses the board of "repeatedly fail[ing] to act in the best interest of homeowners with government agencies, defaulting to the Interests of the Developer." *Id.* (emphasis added).

G. Kosor claims Respondents' actions have "cost homeowners millions"

Plaintiff's Complaint goes on to allege that Kosor's pamphlet claims that the "Developer's actions have "already cost the homeowners millions." Compl. ¶ 11. Kosor's pamphlet does indeed state that "[w]ith Olympia Management owned by the Developer . . . this has cost our community millions of dollars." JA 71 (emphasis added).

H. Kosor's pamphlet knowingly misrepresents legal expenses

Additionally, Respondents' Complaint alleges that Kosor's pamphlet (JA 71), as well as his website (JA 85), "grossly overstates the Southern Highlands Community Association's 2016 legal expenses." JA 3 at ¶ 11. Kosor's pamphlet refers to "wasteful legal costs (\$1.4M in 2016, far more than typically incurred by HOAs of similar size)." JA 71. This statement exposes that Mr. Kosor's continued accusations of Respondents' lack of fitness for their business or profession are knowingly false. Even his counsel admitted that this statement was false in his Motion to Dismiss. JA 29:24-27. But this admission isn't even entirely revealing. The numbers that Mr. Kosor references in his Motion are **not** the actual legal

expenses incurred by Southern Highlands in 2016.³ As had been discussed ad nauseum with Mr. Kosor by Olympia employees, the Southern Highlands

Community Association's 2016 actual legal expenses were less than \$900,000 – or over half-a-million dollars less than Mr. Kosor's published statements. JA 203-204 at ¶ 8-9; *see also* JA 196 (emails with Olympia employee Sara Gilliam).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Based on recent Nevada Supreme Court law, the standard of review for a district court's denial or grant of an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss is *de novo*. *Coker v. Sassone*, 432 P.3d 746, 749 (Nev. 2019). As part of the Court's *de novo* review, it will "exercise independent judgment in determining whether, based on [its] review of the record, the challenged claims arise from protected activity."

_

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